1986

Irwin G. Bunnell v. Industrial Commission of Utah, U.S. Steel Corporation, and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was Mr. Bunnell denied his right to a fair and unbiased hearing?

2. Where the only two doctors who commented on the question of causation felt there was a causal relationship, and where no contrary evidence was presented, did the Industrial Commission deny and dismiss Mr. Bunnell's claim contrary to the one inevitable conclusion supported by the law and facts: that his total disability was caused in significant part by his industrial accident?

II

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a workman's compensation claim for total disability benefits. The claim was dismissed after a hearing before an administrative law judge. A timely motion for review was denied by the Industrial Commission with a comment adopting and affirming the findings and conclusions of the administrative law judge. (Record p 150)

A.

FACTS RELATING TO THE INJURY AND THE DISABILITY

1. THE ACCIDENT

On November 13, 1953, Irwin Bunnell, while he was working as a carpenter for U.S. Steel Corporation, fell approximately 18 feet into an empty but still partially heated open hearth furnace. He struck several obstructions in the fall and landed unconscious on the hot (600-700 degree) brick floor of the furnace (Record p 23 lines 24-25) where he lay 30-50 seconds (Record p 30 line 3) until fellow workers could get him out of the furnace. (Record p 20 line 11 ff.)

2. THE INJURIES

Mr. Bunnell was unconscious for five days (Record p 38 lines 22-25) and was in the hospital for 15 days. (Record p 92-94) Injuries consisted of Colle's fracture of the left wrist, three metacarpal fractures of the left hand, Fracture of the right femur at the greater trochanter, fractured ribs 6 through 10 on the right (Record p 92-93), a depressed skull fracture, (Record p 41 lines 7-9, p 73 lines 21-23) and various burns, contusions and other injuries. (Record p 33 lines 12-16 and 21-23, and p 108) While in the hospital, he also developed a severe coughing problem. (Record p 39 line 15 to p 40 line 9)

With time Mr. Bunnell's injuries healed sufficiently for him to return to regular work on July 29, 1954, nine months after the accident (Record p 108), although he apparently did not reach a "fixed state of recovery" until October 21, 1954. (Record p 108

line 5)

3. RESIDUAL PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT

On October 21, 1954, Dr. Boyd J. Larson, the employer's company physician, reported residual permanent impairment of the left hand for ankylosis of the wrist, some shortening of the bone, and loss of muscle power in the left hand. He also reported residual aching in the right hip joint and in the left chest region. Dr. Larson then said, "We recommend that Mr. Bunnell be granted 15 per cent permanent partial disability settlement of the body for the above described residuals which have resulted from the injury suffered at this plant." (Record p 106 top)

On June 20, 1955, Mr. Bunnell was awarded \$866.25 for 15 per cent permanent disability resulting from the accident in accordance with the recommendation of the employer's company doctor. (Record p 134)

4. RESIDUAL CHRONIC COUGHING

Following this award for permanent disability, Mr. Bunnell continued to have lung problems. During the 15 years from the time of the accident until he became totally disabled, Mr. Bunnell suffered from chronic "smokers cough," though he had never smoked. (Record p 67 line 23 through p 68 line 8, p 46 lines 9-21, p 123 paragraph 2, p 26 line 13 through p 27 line 10, p 42 line 22 through p 43 line 3 and p 47 line 11 through p 49)

The residual coughing did sporadically get somewhat better, (Record p 27 lines 5-10, p 41 lines 1-4, p 45 line 14-15 and p 123 paragraph 2) but the coughing fits interfered with his work (Record p 68 line 1-8 and p 28 lines 14-16) and required medical treatment. (Record p 43 lines 8-21 and p 44 lines 19 ff.) The overall pattern of the lung problem was progressive. (Record p 132 latter part of paragraph 1, p 71 lines 14-21)

5. RESIDUAL DECREASED RESISTANCE

In addition to the chronic coughing fits, Mr. Bunnell also suffered with a residual decreased resistance to lung problems resulting from "much lung damage from heat burn." Consequently, he was told to be careful, that he "might have a tendency to obtain pneumonia." (Record p 120 mid paragraph 1, p 123 paragraph 2 line 5, p 54 lines 4-6, see also offer of proof to the Industrial Commission, Record p 145 second full paragraph.)

Because of the increased propensity for lung problems, in 1960 a "minor cold" developed into three days of continuous coughing so severe that hospitalization and oxygen treatment were required. (Record p 111 top and p 120 mid paragraph 1)

6. PROGRESSIVE NATURE OF RESPIRATORY DIFFICULTIES

Mr. Bunnell showed a "progressive pattern of respiratory difficulty throughout the ensuing years from the accident." (Record p 132 latter part of paragraph 1, p 71 lines 14-21)

7. THE NATURE OF THE PULMONARY FAILURE

Mr. Bunnell's "pulmonary failure" was a matter of serious question among the treating medical experts who considered and ruled out:

- a. Congestive heart failure (Record p 127 paragraphs 1, 2 and 5)
- b. Emphysema (Originally admitted for emphysema - Record p 131 paragraph 4 first sentence, but was found to have negative pulmonary function studies - Record p 123 paragraph 2 top, p 117 and 130. Even the most recent studies, in 1985, conclude only that "there are suggestions that emphysema may be present." p 132 paragraph 2)
- c. Asthmatic bronchitis (Dr. Wight's impression on 10-28-68 was "Questionable asthmatic bronchitis" Record p 122, but medicating for allergic asthma and bronchospasm was not effective, Record p 127 paragraph 3 last sentence)
- d. Allergies (Record p 127 paragraph 4 first sentence, p 124 under findings)
- e. Tuberculosis (Record p 121 suggesting tuberculosis but indicating further studies needed to determine activity, but p 131 paragraph 3 penultimate sentence - "No activity found.")
- f. Pulmonary tumor (Record p 127 paragraph 7)
- g. Epilepsy (The uncontrolled spasmodic coughing fits, in combination with the severe head injury and prolonged period

of unconsciousness at the time of the accident, also suggested a form of epilepsy, but epileptiform brain waves were not found by EEG. Record p 126. See also p 41 line 22 through p 42 line 2)

The symptoms, by the time of the first 1968 hospitalization, consisted of severe uncontrollable fits of coughing which would last one or two hours. (Record p 120 paragraph 1 second sentence) This had been a mild, primarily non-productive, chronic cough, off and on since the industrial accident. (Record p 123 paragraph 2) From about spring of 1968 the coughing became progressively more productive until by the time of the second 1968 hospitalization in October of 1968, the cough was producing copious amounts of sputum, bringing up "an entire glassful of material daily." (Record p 127 paragraph 3 and p 124 under Findings) In addition, Mrs. Bunnell reported that the coughing fits became so severe that occasionally they would result in vomiting or nose bleeds. (Record p 46 lines 11-14)

After numerous tests and two hospitalizations (9-18-68, Record p 120 and 10-28-68, Record p 123), a consulting medical expert tenuously decided that Mr. Bunnell's pulmonary failure "strikes me as being an allergic bronchospastic asthma despite the fact that there are many factors that make one wonder here." (Record p 129 paragraph 1)

8. RESULTING PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY

Finally, on September 11, 1968, a year before he was eligible for regular retirement, Mr. Bunnell was declared totally disabled by his treating physician. (Record p 135 last paragraph) This document vaguely describes the medical problem as "Congestive failure - ? ... pulmonary failure." (Record p 135. Though the writing is difficult to read on this document, U.S. Steel's answer to the application for hearing confirms this reading - Record p 5 lines 17-19)

That the doctor considered this a "permanent" total disability is shown in the discharge summary for the first 1968 hospitalization where the doctor says, "Probable medical retirement will be necessary." (Record p 131 paragraph 4)

Retirement at that time was not mandatory at age 65 if the worker could pass a physical examination. Mr. Bunnell retired only because he was unable to pass the physical exam. (Record p 54 lines 19-25)

While the nature of the pulmonary failure was a matter of much speculation, the fact that Mr. Bunnell was totally disabled thereby has never been questioned, even by U.S. Steel. Before they put him on retirement benefits, U.S. Steel paid disability benefits for over a year (albeit under a sickness and accident policy) and never challenged, then or since, the medical fact of Mr. Bunnell's total disability. (Record p 5 lines 15-19)

B.

FACTS RELATING TO THE ISSUE OF CAUSATION

The principal question to be answered in this case, that is, what caused Mr. Bunnell's disabling pulmonary failure, is specifically discussed by the medical experts in only two places in the record:

1. MEDICAL OPINION OF CAUSATION: Dr. Richard P. Bigelow during the September 1968 hospitalization indicated a combination of factors led to Mr. Bunnell's respiratory problem which he called at that time a "probable emphysema." The factors identified were:

- a. A "kyphosis" (humpback) deformity
- b. "Childhood bronchitis tendency"
- c. "Maybe aggravated by dust exposure at his job"
- d. "Also, the chest injury in 1951 [1953] didn't help the matter with rib fractures"
- e. "One episode of pneumonia."

"[This] combination of events," says Dr. Bigelow, "has led to his respiratory problem at this time." (Record p 118 under Impression)

It should be noted that the pneumonia episode was also attributed to the industrial accident. (Record p 120 mid first

paragraph. See also p 111 paragraphs 1 and 2) Thus, two of the five mentioned causal factors are linked directly to the industrial accident.

At that time, Dr. Bigelow apparently also considered underlying congestive heart failure as a possible triggering factor contributing to this cough, (Record p 118 last paragraph) but that was later ruled out. (Record p 127 paragraphs 1 and 2)

2. MEDICAL OPINION OF CAUSATION: Dr. Tracy A. Hill, Mr. Bunnell's current treating physician, after reviewing the medical history and the history of the accident, states his opinion as to causation of Mr. Bunnell's progressive respiratory difficulties as follows:

"While it is extremely difficult to say that his accident was the entire cause of his present difficulties, what is clear is that he has had a progressive pattern of respiratory difficulty throughout the ensuing years from the accident. It is reasonable to suggest, in my opinion, that his accident was at least a contributing factor to his progressive respiratory difficulty." (Record p 132 paragraph 1)

3. EVIDENCE OF CAUSATION IN MEDICAL RECORDS AND TESTIMONY:

a. Prior to the 1953 accident, Mr. Bunnell was in excellent health. As a young man he used to ice skate six miles across Utah Lake in the winter. (Record p 50 lines 7-11) He lettered in high school athletics. He participated on baseball, wrestling and track teams. (Record p 50 lines 12-16) As an adult he climbed cliffs and mountains (Record p

51 lines 21-23) and was a guide for hikes up Mt. Timpanogos several times a summer. (Record p 50 lines 16-18 and p 51 lines 10-16)

b. No doctor ever told Mr. Bunnell he had lung problems before the accident. (Record p 66 lines 1-9)

c. Mr. Bunnell worked for Geneva Steel seven years before the accident and had received treatment and examinations, including chest x-rays (Record p 88) at the Geneva dispensary. Yet U.S. Steel never offered any evidence to show any lung problems existed before the accident.

d. Development of the lung problems is documented by the X-ray reports:

1) An X-ray report from Geneva dispensary dated 6-12-52, more than a year before the accident, has no indication of lung problems. (Record p 88)

2) X-rays the day of the accident, 11-13-53, show "No evidence of pneumothorax or of parenchymal hemorrhage. Both lungs are well aerated." (Record p 91)

3) X-rays nine days later, 11-22-53, show "consolidation of right lower lobe due to hemorrhage or pneumonia." Left lung "is not as well aerated as on previous examination." (Record p 95)

4) Follow up X-rays at Geneva dispensary are thereafter consistently positive for "emphysema," or "pulmonary scarring" or "infiltrates." (10-5-54 Record p 102, 3-14 55 Record p 107, 3-15-66 Record p 114, 9-3-68 Record p 116)

e. Mrs. Bunnell testified that she remained with Mr. Bunnell in the hospital (Record p 38 lines 22-24) and that while he was there he developed a severe coughing problem (Record p 39 line 14 to p 40 line 8) for which the doctor prescribed "steari inhalation" therapy (Record p 94 under date 11-21-53) and medications. (Record p 40 lines 4-5)

f. Mrs. Bunnell was not allowed to testify that the doctors informed her that Mr. Bunnell's lungs had been permanently injured (record p 36 lines 2-11 and p 54 lines 2-6; See also offer of proof, Record p 145 second full paragraph) but 1968 medical records were admitted which confirm that Mr. Bunnell "was told he might have a tendency to obtain pneumonia." (Record p 120 mid first paragraph, see also p 123 paragraph 2 line 5)

g. After the accident Mr. Bunnell was never able to participate in strenuous physical activities as he had before and he never regained his full strength. (Record p 51 lines 18-23, p 71 lines 14-21, p 68 lines 14-16) From the

time of the accident he never got rid of the chronic cough.
(Record p 67 line 23 to p 68 line 8. See also references to
Residual Chronic Coughing, above)

4. THE ONLY OPPOSING EVIDENCE ON CAUSATION: To counter the two
medical opinions and the evidence in the testimony and the
medical records, the employer submitted for evidence only an
insurance claim form, (Exhibit D-1, Record p 135) wherein Mr.
Bunnell responded "No" to the questions:

"Do you claim this disability was caused by an
accident: (Answer 'yes' or 'No')"

and,

"Do you claim this disability is related to your work?
(Answer 'Yes' or 'No')."

The finding of the administrative law judge, purportedly
based on this document, was that Mr. Bunnell "at that time
represented that his problem was not industrially related."
(Record p 134 last paragraph first sentence)

The significance of this claim form as "evidence of
causation" and as support for the administrative finding is
extremely questionable and can only be understood when the
document is considered in the factual and historical context in
which the form was signed. Three very important facts must be
considered:

a. This form reflects the tentative belief, on 9-30-68 when the form was signed, that the respiratory difficulties were being aggravated by an underlying congestive heart failure (non industrial) though it was determined later, after the form had been submitted, that there was no underlying heart disease. See Record p 118 last paragraph, dated 9-18-68 (before the claim form was submitted) where Dr. Bigelow speculates about the "contribution to his cough to possible underlying congestive failure," and then see Record p 127 paragraphs 1 and 2, dated 11-16-68 (after the claim form was submitted) ruling out any "background myocardial failure."

It is understandable in the context of his belief at the time that there was underlying congestive heart disease why Dr. Bigelow on 9-30-68 responded on the claim form under "Nature of the sickness (Describe complication, if any)" by writing "Congestive failure - ? com pulmonary failure." (Record p 135)

It is likewise, in that same context, understandable why Mr. Bunnell was not "making a claim" that his problems day he signed the form, he probably had been told that he was suffering from a possible underlying congestive heart failure.

b. The document does not ask whether Mr. Bunnell thought the problem was industrially related as the finding indicates,

but whether he was making a claim. The finding that Mr. Bunnell had represented that his injury was not industrially related appears to be based on representations of counsel. (Record p 79 line 15 to p 80 line 16) The signed claims form, on its face, does not ask for or necessarily indicate Mr. Bunnell's feeling about the cause of his lung problems. (Exhibit D-1 Record p 135)

It is clear from the records that Mr. Bunnell thought his lung problems were related to the accident at the time he went to the doctors. All hospital and medical histories both in 1960 and 1968 refer to the chest or lung injury that occurred in the 1953 industrial accident. This shows that the relationship between the accident and the ongoing respiratory difficulties was taken seriously by both Mr. Bunnell and his doctors at those early times. It was not a causal relationship only contemplated recently. (3-7-60 hospitalization, Record p 111 1/3 from top of page; 9-18-68 hospitalization, Record p 120 mid first paragraph; 10-28-68 hospitalization, Record p 123 paragraph 1; 11-16-68 consultation, Record p 127 paragraph 2)

c. Finally, Mr. Bunnell had no motivation to make a worker's compensation claim in 1968 because of the employer's conscientiously enforced offset provisions. (Record p 5 lines 22-25) He believed that whatever he might gain by

pursuing his claim would only be offset from his medical or retirement benefits. He had no way of anticipating that years later the workers' compensation benefits would be raised by statute to much higher than his \$288.81 a month pension. (Record p 5 line 22)

In this context the "claim form" has very speculative relevance to the issue of causation and lends no support whatsoever to the administrative finding that Mr. Bunnell "at that time represented that his problem was not industrially related." (Record p 134)

C.

FACTS RELATING TO BIAS AND UNFAIRNESS

A certain amount of skepticism is understandable if not justified in a 1985 claim arising out of a 1953 injury. The earliest evidence of the commission's attitude toward Mr. Bunnell's claim is shown in an October 17, 1985 letter to counsel refusing to set Mr. Bunnell's case for early hearing. (Record p 142) Facts showing bias and unfairness in the hearing (February 1986) are exhibited in the conduct of the proceedings and in the commission's findings and interpretations of the evidence as follows:

1. EVIDENCE OF BIAS AND UNFAIRNESS IN THE CONDUCT OF THE PROCEEDINGS:

a. Hearsay evidence was illegally excluded, (Record p 35 lines 1-12) keeping in mind that hearsay is specifically made admissible in Industrial Commission hearings by statute and case law. (See argument below for references) The administrative law judge also decided this information was "not pertinent" (Record p 35 line 13) without ever hearing the testimony.

b. The administrative law judge anticipated hearsay and gave warning about it without objection of opposing counsel (Record p 36 lines 1-11)

c. Hearsay objection was again sustained even though the witness was not asked to give hearsay but to express her own understanding of why she had to remain constantly, day and night, in the hospital with her husband. (Record p 37 lines 5-11)

d. Mr. Bunnell's counsel was not allowed to argue his objection to this exclusion of non hearsay testimony. (Record p 37 lines 12-14)

e. Intimidating threats and warnings were made as to what would happen if Mr. Bunnell attempted to "make his record."
(Record p 37 line 14 through p 38 line 21)

f. The effects of the intimidating threats on the witness were apparent throughout her testimony as she showed repeated concern whether she could say what she wanted.
(Record p 36 lines 16-17 "I don't know whether this is pertinent or not"; Record p 41 lines 18-19 "I don't know whether this would be allowed in the record or not"; p 44 line 2 "If I could be allowed to tell of the injuries..."; p 44 lines 6-18 where she apologizes unnecessarily to the judge several times; p 51 line 23 "That's bad for the record, but it's the truth."; p 54 line 4 "I can't tell you what Dr. Linden said about his lungs?"; p 58 line 11 "Am I out of line?")

g. The administrative law judge interrupted Mr. Bunnell's closing argument and refused to accept written argument on the medical evidence and refused to allow counsel to verbally argue the medical facts supporting Mr. Bunnell's case (Record p 75 line 23 to p 76 line 25)

h. Finally the record shows that the administrative law judge had already made his decision to deny Mr. Bunnell's

claim before he reviewed the medical evidence upon which the decision was purportedly based and before the medical records were even admitted into evidence. Note, the administrative law judge reveals his decision when he says to Mr. Bunnell's counsel, "You can make that argument again, if you want to file a motion for review or something. All right?" (Record p 76 line 13-14) This comment was made before the medical records were reviewed (Record p 76 line 20) and before they were even admitted into evidence. (Record p 77 line 3-9) Nevertheless, the denial was purportedly based on review of the medical evidence. (Record p 139 first paragraph and p 140 first paragraph)

2. EVIDENCE OF BIAS AND UNFAIRNESS IN THE FINDINGS AND INTERPRETATIONS OF EVIDENCE:

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