1986

Irwin G. Bunnell v. Industrial Commission of Utah, U. S. Steel Corporation and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. There is sufficient evidence in the record to support the Industrial Commission's finding that plaintiff did not meet his burden to show by a preponderance of the medical evidence that his permanent total disability from pulmonary problems was a residual result of his industrial accident of November 13, 1953.

B. Plaintiff was not denied the right to a fair and impartial hearing.

VI. ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S DECISION WHICH DENIED WORKER'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS TO PLAINTIFF MUST BE UPHELD IF THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The standard of review exercised by this Court in cases appealing decisions of the Industrial Commission is well established. In Higgins vs. Industrial Commission 700 P.2d 704, 706 (Utah 1985) this Court stated:

Our standard for review of the Industrial Commission's Findings of Fact in workmen's compensation cases is well-settled. We are

limited to determining whether the Commission's findings are supported by substantial evidence. Kennecott vs. Industrial Commission, Utah, 675 P.2d 1187, 1192 (1983); Kent vs. Industrial Commission, 89 Utah 381, 385, 57 P.2d 724, 725, (1936).

This standard was reaffirmed in such recent cases as Hardman vs. Salt Lake City Fleet Management, 41 Utah Adv. Rep. 7 (September 8, 1986) and Bigfoot's Inc. vs. Industrial Commission, 28 Utah Adv. Rep. 17 (February 26, 1986) in which case this Court stated also that where the evidence is in conflict "this Court has no power to determine the weight of the evidence and credibility of the witnesses under the Statute." Staker vs. Industrial Commission, 61 Utah 11, 209 P.880 (1922).

POINT II

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE FINDINGS OF THE COMMISSION.

The Commission relied upon the extensive medical evidence in the record to support its findings and decision. Analysis of the medical evidence makes it clear beyond question that finding plaintiff's disabling pulmonary problems to be a residual result of his November 13, 1953 industrial accident is not the only inevitable conclusion from the evidence. In fact the medical evidence is for the most part directly to the contrary and does not even suggest such an "inevitable conclusion". In the first place, despite contrary testimony at the hearing almost 33 years later by plaintiff and his witnesses, the medical record fails to disclose any pulmonary complaints on the part of plaintiff until 1968 almost 15 years following the injury, when reference is made in a report by Dr. Bigelow (R.120) to the effect that "this is a 64 year old man who comes in for investigation of a cough which has been going on for over a year but last six weeks, much worse." Dr. Boyd Larsen U. S. Steel's physician at Geneva reported for the first time (R.116) on August 30, 1968 that plaintiff had "cough for about a month". Likewise Dr. E. A. White attending

physician on November 16, 1968 reports (R.127) "approximately five months ago he developed a cough which has been progressively more productive. . ." and further refers to his industrial accident of 1953 and one subsequent pneumonia "but following this and for the last 16 years up until earlier this year he has had no chest complaints." (R.127) The pathologic diagnosis at that time (R.128) was moderate, chronic bronchitis, benign. Of interest also is the discharge diagnosis of Dr. Bigelow (R.131) of:

Chronic congestive failure with pulmonary congestion.

Old pulmonary scarring compatable with healed granulomatous T.B.

No calcium, but is bilateral and apical.

Has some very minor pulmonary disease, chronic and obstructive, very likely has an underlying arteriosclerotic disease, but this could not be proved with present evidence.

Nothing in the above leads to the "inevitable conclusion" that plaintiff's pulmonary problems were a result of his 1953 industrial accident.

Likewise the many chest x-ray reports in the record do not reveal such an "inevitable conclusion" or even a reasonably reliable suggestion. On March 15, 1966 Dr. Larsen requested a "routine x-ray" (R.114) in which James R. Matheson, M.D., found "there is a slight to moderate degree of pulmonary emphysema and pulmonary scarring. The appearance of the chest is very similiar to that seen in 1952." Thus indicating that plaintiff had pulmonary indications of emphysema even prior to the November 13, 1953 industrial accident. Similarly in 1954 (R.102) radiologist H. J. Brown noted "considerable emphysema is present in both lungs and this has produced a barrel chest deformity." Again on March 14, 1955 (R107) Dr. Brown notes ". . .chest - considerable emphysema is present in the lungs. The lungs are otherwise normal. . ." Also noted by Dr. Brown were the old healed fractured

ribs. . .with the further notation "these should be of no clinical significance at this time." On September 3, 1968 (R.116) notes that "lungs are essentially unchanged from previous film. The increased markings throughout lung fields are about the same. There is evidence of maderate emphysema and marked increase in both bases suggestive of bronchiectasis." In summary, the x-ray readings and reports simply do not suggest a causal relationship, yet alone the required "inevitable causal conclusion" between plaintiff's industrial accident of November 13, 1953 on the one hand and his indications of longstanding pulmonary emphysema, tuberculosis and/or bronchitis on the other.

Finally, the medical evidence contains the numerous reports of Dr. Martin Lindem U. S. Steel's chief surgeon located in Salt Lake City, Utah and Dr. Boyd G. Larsen, U. S. Steel's physician in charge of the Geneva plant medical program. Neither Dr. Lindem's initial report dated November 16, 1953 (R.97) nor his medical records summary dated March 17, 1955 addressed to the Industrial Commission of Utah for permanent disability evaluation (R.108) contains any indication of pulmonary complaints or pulmonary findings in any way attributable to plaintiff's injury of November 13, 1953. Indeed, both reports indicate satisfactory convalescence on the part of the plaintiff and the March 17, 1955 report shows the return of plaintiff to light work on January 13, 1954 and regular work on July 29, 1954. (R.108) Dr. Larsen's reports are found throughout the medical record beginning with the First Report of Injury dated November 17, 1953 (R.90), continuing with his evaluation of permanent partial disability report dated October 21, 1954 following plaintiff's return to regular duty and recommending a 15% permanent partial disability residual settlement (R.106) and ending with his requests for routine chest x-ray and report dated March 15, 1966 (R.114) which report indicates "a slight to moderate degree of pulmonary emphysema and pulmonary

scarring and a chest appearance very similiar to that seen in 1952, are consistent in their absence of any indications of pulmonary problems of any kind on the part of plaintiff during the 14 year period of such reports. Indeed there is no reference at any time even suggesting any pulmonary problems attributable to the open hearth fall of plaintiff of November 13, 1953. Also significant is the Industrial Commission Order dated May 9, 1955 (R.134) following the examination and evaluation of plaintiff by the Disability Rating Board appointed by the Industrial Commission which evaluation contained no reference of any kind to either pulmonary complaints on the part of the plaintiff or any pulmonary problems or disabilities recognized by the rating board. Applicant's wife referred to the examination by the Disability Rating Board in March of 1955 as part of plaintiff's assertion that he was denied a fair and impartial hearing. (R.58) It was contended on behalf of plaintiff that he was prejudiced because Mrs. Bunnell was not permitted to attend the examination of plaintiff by the Disability Rating Board and that they could not appeal the eventual 15% permanent partial disability rating because they were too poor and because plaintiff "out of work and had no wages coming in at that time." (R.58) Such representations point out not only plaintiff's lack of understanding of the evaluation process on the part of the Disability Rating Board in which outsiders including counsel as well as physicians or other representatives from either the employer or the employee are excluded (R.61) but more significantly plaintiff's faulty recollection of happenings and events 30 years before. While plaintiff's wife testified that at the time of the Disability Rating Board's examination and evaluation in 1955, plaintiff was out of work and had no money coming in, (R.58) The actual facts were that plaintiff had returned to work with his employer United States Steel in January, 1954 and was earning his full salary throughout the entire period involved. Indeed, he continued to work for U. S. Steel for 13

additional years at full pay prior to his retirement at age 65 in 1968. Thus, the testimony is clear that there was complete confusion at the hearing on the part of plaintiff, his wife and counsel with respect to the 1955 Disability Rating Board examination which was conducted at a time when plaintiff was working full time and realizing his full earnings as a carpenter for U. S. Steel, earnings which he continued to enjoy at even an increased rate for the next 13 years. Such confusion demonstrates the inaccuracies and misrepresentations inherent in attempted recollection of facts and events 30 years after the fact. It also has provided further justification, if any is needed, for the reliance by the Administrative Law Judge upon medical records prepared at the time of examination in preference to testimony and faulty recollection 30 years later dimmed by the long passage of time and perhaps colored by personal involvement in the ultimate resolution of the compensation claim. In any event, the bottom line is that the Administrative Law Judge under the circumstances, clearly was in the best position to evaluate the conflict in the evidence and where, as here, there is evidence to support his findings and decision, they properly should not be disturbed on appeal before this Court.

Plaintiff has placed great reliance upon the one page letter report to plaintiff's counsel dated January 20, 1986 by Dr. Tracy A. Hill who acknowledged that the etiology of the obstructive lung disease of plaintiff to be uncertain because plaintiff was a non-smoker and did not have a history of asthma. (R.132) Nevertheless, based upon his review of the medical records provided to him by plaintiff's counsel, he stated that it was "reasonable to speculate" that plaintiff's pulmonary problems originated with his injury at U. S. Steel in 1953. Such "speculation" ignores x-ray indications of already existing emphysema markings in plaintiff's chest as well as recorded history of bronchitis as a child (R.120) and diagnosis of possible heart congestion

and old healed tuberculosis. (R.121) Moreover there is some indication that plaintiff's pulmonary problems may have been aggravated through the years by his work in the dusty Geneva open hearth area. This, of course, under other circumstances possibly could provide a basis for an occupational disease claim, but as pointed out by the Administrative Law Judge, (R.139) such a claim in this case would be precluded under the Utah Occupational Disease Act. In summary, the one page letter report of Dr. Hill directed to plaintiff's counsel 32 years after plaintiff's accident and almost 20 years following the bulk of the medical evidence comprising the record in this case clearly is not sufficient to render the Commission's findings "wholly without cause" or to make such findings of the Commission contrary to the "one inevitable conclusion from the evidence". At best there is a conflict of evidence as to the effect, if any, of plaintiff's 1953 open hearth accident upon his present pulmonary problems. Under such circumstances the Commission's Findings of Fact should not be set aside in the light of established principles of review clearly set forth by this Court in the many cases cited above.

POINT III.

PLANTIFF WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR AND UNBIASED HEARING.

Plaintiff in his brief has gone to great lengths to point out rulings or statements on the part of the Administrative Law Judge which he characterizes as a denial of a fair and unbiased hearing. It is true that testimony was rejected by the Administrative Law Judge, some on the basis of obvious irrelevancy (R.37) and some clearly hearsay statements of a medical nature alleged to have been made 33 years ago by the treating physicians one of whom has been dead for many years (Dr. Martin Lindem) and the other who has been retired for some time and now is partially blind (Dr. Boyd J. Larsen). All of the medical reports of U. S. Steel

including those by Drs. Lindem and Larsen were made a part of the record and in accordance with established Industrial Commission procedure and practice represent the medical evidence of the treatment and diagnosis accorded to plaintiff by those treating physicians. For instance, testimony relating to the 3 hour delay in advising plaintiff's wife of his serious industrial accident was offered ostensibly to indicate lack of sympathy, lack of competence or negligence on the part of U. S. Steel in the handling of plaintiff's injury and treatment. (R.33) Upon objection this testimony was rejected for the obvious reason of relevance. (R.44) The Administrative Law Judge also rejected hearsay statements on the part of Drs. Lindem and Larsen tending to suggest a lack of feeling, possible incompetence or even a "cover up" with respect to the medical treatment and the medical records made available to the Commission when this case was filed some 32 years following the accident and the medical treatment accorded to the plaintiff. For instance the medical reports in the record clearly show the nature and extent of plaintiff's injuries and the progress during his stay at the St. Mark's Hospital and his period of convalescence prior to his return to light work for the employer on January 13, 1954 approximately 60 days following his injury. (R.90-employer's initial surgical report; R.91-96-reports on admission, treatment progress and discharge, St. Mark's Hospital 11/13/53 through 11/28/53.) It should be noted that the progress notes on the day after the injury (R.93) indicate that x-rays had been taken and that "patient is doing well". Upon objection by Defendants the Administrative Law Judge rejected plaintiff's wife's attempt to tell of the injuries her husband received 33 years earlier and what Dr. Lindem told her at the time. We believe that the rejection of such evidence was entirely proper. Likewise, the rejection of hearsay evidenced by Mrs.

Bunnell as to why she stayed in the hospital with her husband during part or all of the 15 days he was at St. Mark's. (R.37) Indeed, the progress notes made at the time (R.93) show on 11-14-53". . . patient is doing well." The note on 11-20-53 states, "is sitting up in bed, feeling much better. TPR normal."; and on 11-28-53: "has been up in wheelchair. TPR normal. May go home according to Dr. Lindem."

Plaintiff also complained because Mrs. Bunnell was not allowed to attend the examination and evaluation of Mr. Bunnell which was made by the Disability Rating Board appointed by the Industrial Commission in March of 1955. (R.58) In response it should be pointed out that the practice then and now is not to permit any outsiders including relatives, attorneys or treating physicians when disability rating examinations are made. (R.61) It is also noteworthy in connection with the permanent partial disability rating accorded to plaintiff in this case that he was referred by the U. S. Steel medical division to the Industrial Commission for evaluation and rating (R.108) and further that the company accepted and paid the 15% permanent partial rating accorded to plaintiff by the Industrial Commission's Disability Rating Board. (R.134) As part of his allegation of unfairness plaintiff refers to his award of \$400.00 (R.58) (it should be noted that the actual amount was \$866.25) and then attempted^{to} explain the failure to appeal or protest the award by saying, "he was out of work. . . he had no wages coming in." and further that attorneys they had contacted had said, "Don't try to fight Geneva. You can never win against Geneva." (R.58,59) Such testimony in our opinion properly should have been excluded by the Administrative Law Judge. In addition, the above demonstrates the inaccuracy of recollection attempted to be made 30 to 35 years after the event in question. As you will note from the payment

award to plaintiff (R.134) it is dated on June 20, 1955 at a time when plaintiff was working full time and for full wages, incentives and fringe benefits for his employer U. S. Steel. Indeed, plaintiff continued to work with full earnings, incentives fringe medical and insurance benefits for another 13 years prior to his normal retirement at age 65 in 1968. Once again the facts and the medical evidence are at complete variance with the attempted recollection and testimony offered by plaintiff and his wife more than 30 years later.

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